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SUBMISSIONS ON BEHALF OF MR NJ FRANGOS TO THE MINISTER OF TRADE AND INDUSTRY REGARDING THE ADEQUACY OF THE INSPECTION CONDUCTED BY JUDGE J MYBURGH AND PROFESSOR K PRINSLOO INTO THE AFFAIRS OF THE CORPCAPITAL GROUP OF COMPANIES
Introduction
During June 2003 WWB made submissions to the Minister of Trade and Industry ("the Minister"), on behalf of our client Mr N Frangos ("Frangos"), a former director of CorpCapital Limited who resigned as such on 2 December 2002. Those submissions set out grounds as to why the Minister should exercise his discretion under section 258(2) of the Companies Act 61 of 1973, as amended, ("the Companies Act") to appoint one or more Inspectors to investigate the affairs of the CorpCapital group of companies ("the CorpCapital Group"). As a result of our submissions Judge J Myburgh ("Myburgh") and Professor K Prinsloo ("Prinsloo") ("the Inspectors") were appointed by the Minister to investigate the affairs of the CorpCapital Group. 
In due course the Inspectors compiled their report, ("the Report"). However, they refused to release it until they received an indemnity from the Minister. The Minister was reluctant to furnish such indemnity, and for a while a stalemate ensued. Ultimately however, the indemnity was provided. The Minister’s answering affidavit in court proceedings brought to compel the Minister to release the Inspectors' report, 20 January 2005, clause 12.2 states:- 

“The report consisting of six bundles and the record of the proceedings consisting of some 114 arc files were only released to the Department by the Inspectors on 27 July 2004 only after the Inspectors had, on their insistence, been provided with an indemnity against any possible claims against them flowing from anything done in the bona fide performance of their duties in terms of their terms of reference.” 

The Report was released by the Minister on 21 November 2006 to CorpCapital and to Frangos. The Minister did so under pressure in terms of a court order obtained by the liquidators of the CorpCapital Group against the Minister. In the Minister's press release announcing the release of the Report, the Minister alluded to his dissatisfaction with aspects of the Report.  The Minister expressed a view that matters dealt with in certain chapters of the Report fell outside the ambit of the Inspectors' mandate, (and this is relevant to whether the indemnity furnished to the Inspectors applies to these chapters of the Report) and that he would have preferred to have the benefit of Frangos' views on certain expert reports given to the Inspectors from experts appointed by CorpCapital.

Frangos was and is extremely unhappy with the Report. In his view the Inspectors were sidetracked from the main issues by an unjustified attack on his character and motive intended to deflect the investigation from the central issues. The attack came from persons (the CorpCapital executives) who were themselves under investigation and was intended to discredit Frangos. Like the Minister, he considers the Inspectors to have exceeded their mandate in investigating his character and motive and does not believe the Inspectors should benefit from an indemnity where their mandate has been exceeded. He is also extremely unhappy with the process followed by the Inspectors, which he regards as inadequate and unfair, as well as being in breach of undertakings given by Myburgh to Frangos' legal advisers. According to Frangos, the consequence of this is a report that is toothless and barren with respect to the substantive complaints raised by Frangos and which gave rise in the first instance to the appointment of the Inspectors. The inspection has cost the government and Frangos considerable time and money. CorpCapital on the other hand has had a substantial portion of its costs covered by insurance. 
The inspection has shown the Companies Act to be ineffectual in dealing with corporate investigations into possible corruption, and placed formidable barriers in the way of directors and corporate officers who encounter irregularities. The high financial and emotional cost to Frangos, as well as the “CorpCapital blueprint” of how to defend against an inspection, now visible to the public, virtually ensures that Frangos could be the last director to meet his obligations of reporting misconduct, unless the CorpCapital matter reaches a proper conclusion consistent with the facts.

As a result of his unhappiness with the Report, Frangos, through WWB, appointed a team of experts to examine and comment on the Report and on further related information provided by the Department of Trade and Industry. These experts have now completed their work, and their reports (as well as other relevant documents) are attached to this submission. Their review includes a forensic analysis of the facts placed before the Investigation. The supporting reports comprise:-

A report (Annexure A) from Mr Charles Stride ("the Stride Report") former senior partner of Fisher Hoffman Stride and adviser  to the Minister of Finance at the time, Mr Chris Liebenberg.  The Stride Report highlights a pattern of behaviour by certain of the CorpCapital executives (Initially, the CEO Mr Jeff Liebesman, and executive directors Benji Liebmann and Errol Grolman. Later they were joined by Martin Sacks and Neil Lazarus). This involved offshore acquisitions of JSE listed cash shells (which subsequently became key entities in the CorpCapital Group) by offshore trusts established by, or at the instance of, certain executives, and for their benefit, in probable contravention of South African exchange control laws. A likely consequence of this was that the shareholdings of these directors in the CorpCapital entities was misrepresented and understated to the investing public. Accordingly, the extent of the conflicts of interests of these directors (for example in relation to the swap ratios at the time of the merger of the three CorpCapital entities, and in their need to show the Cytech revaluations as earnings in the income statement) was not appreciated by the Inspectors. The Stride Report also highlights the fact that the application made by CorpCapital to the South African Reserve Bank ("SARB") for the establishment of Cytech shows a clear long-term intention, in direct contradiction of the evidence laid before (and accepted by) the Inspectors that Cytech was held "available for sale". This evidence was pivotal in the CorpCapital justification of the accounting methods used in rebuttal of the allegations of fraud. The conclusion must be that either the version given to the SARB or the version given to the Inspectors is false. If the version given to the SARB was false, permission to establish and fund Cytech was fraudulently obtained. If the version given to the SARB was correct, then the version given to the Inspectors to justify an otherwise unjustifiable accounting treatment applied to Cytech was false. The latter seems more likely when all the circumstances are taken into account.  On either scenario, the executive directors of CorpCapital ("the executives") appear to have misled the public bodies concerned in material respects and with material consequences; 
A forensic report dated by SAB&T Ubuntu on the CorpCapital scheme of Liebesman and certain executives (Annexure B), which draws similar conclusions and highlights similar inconsistencies as the Stride Report in relation to the establishment of Cytech (ie different versions given to the SARB and to the Inspectors as regards the intention of CorpCapital with respect to Cytech). This report traces the evolution of the CorpCapital group from inception and analyses the implications for shareholders of key events and structures set up for specific purposes. A repetitive pattern of behaviour by the executives emerges, showing how they consistently preferred their own interests to that of the shareholders. The extent of their enrichment is calculated and set out;
An analysis dated 5 June 2007 by Brian Abrahams, former senior partner at Anderson Consulting, on the report of the Inspectors relating to Cytech and the CorpCapital experts (whose reports the Inspectors refused to make available to Frangos for comment) (Annexure C). Abrahams focuses on accounting issues and demonstrates that fair presentation, the overriding requirement of the Companies Act, was not achieved in 2000, 2001 and 2002. He concludes that shareholders and the investing public could not have been able to determine that CorpCapital’s profits in 2000 were the result of a year end book-keeping entry, nor that the results were not sustainable. Abrahams also analyzes the reports of the CorpCapital experts showing that their opinions were extremely narrow, and limited to hyper-technical accounting issues, which was an obvious result of narrow mandates. He concludes that these reports add little to the effectiveness of the CorpCapital defence in the inspection; 
A report dated June 2007 on certain Cytech related issues by Collett & Collett/SAB&T, (Annexure D). Collett shows that the obscure accounting escape hatch used by the executives to justify the accounting approach (that the investment was “held exclusively for sale in the short term”) was made ex post facto, and that there is no evidence that such an important policy was endorsed by the board of CorpCapital or even discussed with members of the board. He points out that the evidence contradicts earlier testimony by the executives, and that the veracity of this evidence does not appear to have been tested by the Inspectors;
A report dated June 2007 by Collett on the digression into character and motive by the Inspectors, (Annexure E). Collett finds that the Inspectors did not apply the same standards to both sides and were biased;
A legal analysis and opinion by WWB on the s258 investigation and its procedures ("the WWB submission") (Annexure F). The WWB submission comments on the procedures used by the Inspectors and covers in detail the crucial issue of whether or not procedural fairness was followed by the Inspectors. The references to case law by the Inspectors after the fact in their letter to the Minister of 29 July 2005 are challenged with respect to interpretation and applicability.  In addition, this report also shows that it was the executives who drove the defence of CorpCapital, which included the aggressive personal attack on Frangos.  WWB submits that the extent of the procedural breaches by the Inspectors as well as their treatment of adverse findings against CorpCapital and Frangos, formed a reasonable suspicion that the Inspectors were biased against him. 
The purpose of this submission is to provide an overview of the matters raised and the conclusions drawn by the experts appointed by Frangos, as set out above, which highlight the numerous and serious defects of the Report, and of the investigative procedures followed by the Inspectors. 
These experts' reports highlight, by reference to evidence laid before and ignored or misinterpreted by the Inspectors, the story that the Inspectors missed and which, it is submitted, justifies the taking of further action. They also highlight possible irregularities from the inception of CorpCapital, and a predisposition on the part of certain executives to place their interests above those of shareholders. 

The reports of SAB&T and Charles Stride - the story the Inspectors missed
The Stride Report (Annexure A) and SAB&T (Annexure B) overlap in many respects. Both of them however, by reference to evidence given to the Inspectors, tell a fascinating story, which is the story the Inspectors missed. The Inspectors missed the story because (i) they appear to have ignored key evidence given by Peter Moss (the offshore partner of Liebesman and Liebmann from 1995) in relation to events outside of South Africa relevant to the acquisition of shares in Southgo (which became Corpgro), (ii) they appear to have missed that this pattern was repeated with TPN (which became CorpCapital) and at least one other listed cash shell (which became Aqua Online Ltd, and was operationally involved with Cytech), and (iii) they did not consider the fact that in CorpCapital's exchange control application to the SARB for permission to set up Cytech, a long term intention with respect to this asset was conveyed, in direct contrast to the short term intention conveyed to the Inspectors. No permission by the SARB could have been approved for a short term investment because it is against their policy. These reports show that what the Inspectors missed included the following:-
a likelihood of exchange control contraventions by the executives, Liebmann, Liebesman, and Grolman, based on the direct evidence of Moss, in connection with their establishment of offshore trusts which acquired shares in Southgo and TPN;

the extent of the effective shareholdings by these individuals in these entities through these trusts. The failure by the Inspectors to consider this meant that the Inspectors failed to identify the true intentions ab initio of the executives and appreciate the extent to which these executives were conflicted in a number of important areas, including the determination of the swap ratios at the time of the merger of Corpgro, CorpCapital and CorpCapital Bank;

how the greater shareholding of these executives influenced their behaviour. These were not just executives with typical executive shareholdings; the executives held substantial undisclosed shareholdings that needed to be protected;

that non-disclosures of the true shareholdings of the executives meant that the trading of these share was conducted behind the scenes and led to the prejudice of the investing public;

that different versions regarding the intention of CorpCapital with respect to Cytech were conveyed to the Inspectors on the one hand and to the SARB on the other. As will be seen later much turns on this contradiction. It seems probable that the version conveyed to the SARB was correct, having regard to the circumstances around Cytech highlighted in the reports;

that as contradictory versions were presented to the SARB and to the Inspectors, the Inspectors should have treated evidence given by CorpCapital executives with great circumspection;

if the version presented to the SARB was correct, then all the arguments made by the executives about the accounting treatment of Cytech to the Inspectors fall away. This implies the accounting treatment was wrong, that the justifications found by the Inspectors for the accounting treatment that was adopted were false and that the Inspectors' conclusions with respect to Cytech are wrong. Such a conclusion should have led the investigation into the related issued of possible fraudulent misrepresentation and intent.
The Stride Report

Stride commences at the inception of CorpCapital, and with the evidence of Peter Moss ("Moss"). He highlights that the information provided to the Inspectors by Moss revealed that overseas trusts were established. The IBIT Trust (“IBIT”), was registered in Switzerland and controlled by Moss and Welbake Investment Trust ("Welbake"), which was controlled in turn by Liebesman and a trust controlled by Liebmann. Stride comments that a computer word search of the Report has revealed that there is not a single reference to Moss. He therefore concludes that this crucial evidence was ignored by the Inspectors. He also notes that a computer word search for references to SARB or Exchange Control in the Report indicates that consideration was being given to reporting breaches of the Exchange Control regulations in respect of Cytech but there is no reference to potential breaches arising from the establishment of the overseas trusts set up for Liebmann and Liebesman.

Stride reveals how these trusts were eventually used, via a company named CBH Investments Ltd, to acquire controlling shares in Southgo before the consortium invested in Southgo. These shareholdings were not disclosed to the investing public or to the regulatory authorities governing such transactions.
Having addressed the formation of Corpgro and CorpCapital, Stride considers Cytech. He begins with the application to the SARB for permission to acquire a 50% interest in Cytech and for this interest to be held in a wholly owned subsidiary. He notes that it was stated in the application that the new investment for which approval was sought constituted an integral part of CorpCapital’s Specialised Outsourcing Division which was intended to provide, to commerce and the formal banking sector, specialized financial services through focused business units in close partnership with management. CorpCapital intended to hold its interests in the e-commerce industry and then list separately on the JSE. 
With respect to the SARB application, Stride comments that it is clear that the intention was to hold a 50% investment in Cytech. Permission was not requested for a short term investment to be “held available for sale”. He has confirmed with the SARB that permission would not have been granted to make a short term investment “held available for sale”. He notes that the SARB application implied that the e-commerce grouping of investments would be listed and not just Cytech, which relied on the resources of fellow subsidiaries and third parties and could not readily be listed on its own. Stride notes that a listing would also imply that Corpgro retained control and that the investment would not be “held available for sale” in the short term. He further notes that no permission was requested nor received to enter into a joint venture. On the contrary, he concludes that it is clear that the investment was part of an overall e-commerce strategy in “close partnership” with management. The minority shareholders of Cytech were employees and not in his opinion joint venture partners. He thus concludes that the statement that the minority 47.5% holding in Cytech was being “held available for sale” was false. He notes that for Cytech to be “held available for sale” would have at least required:- 
audited annual financial statements reflecting precisely what assets and resources Cytech had. Cytech was in effect almost a virtual company. The software was licensed, the back office and credit card collections were outsourced and the company only ran the screens and did the marketing. The back office work was outsourced to Aqua Online. As the back bone of the system was outsourced it reduced the value of what “own assets” could have been acquired by a potential buyer. Stride notes that the Inspectors appear not to have considered this aspect nor did they obtain the outsourcing agreement to evaluate its terms and the impact on future earnings.  Credit card collections were outsourced to CFI. As the collections were dependent on a third party for resources the company did not have, this further reduced the value of what “own assets” were being acquired and at what cost;
software licence agreements to determine what the heart of the business was worth: ie. what proprietary rights existed. Stride notes that the original software systems were licensed from Micro Gaming Systems, a supplier to most of the major casinos. These software systems are available to anyone who wishes to enter into the online gaming sector;
the agreements between the related parties. The Inspectors called for and received the shareholders agreement, but it had never been signed;
written authority from the remaining shareholders authorising a sale. There was no such authority.

Stride then notes that permission was requested from the SARB to advance $560,000 on loan account, secured by the underlying assets of Cytech and repaid as a first charge against cash flows. He makes the point that as the permission requested was to acquire a 50% interest and to be the main provider of loan funds ($560,000 v $40,000), there can be no doubt that the Group had "significant influence" over Cytech. The matters reserved for shareholder approval in the unsigned shareholders agreement further reinforce this. Stride concludes that it is clear that Cytech could not have been disclosed as anything other than an associate and its actual earnings equity accounted for. An examination of the 2000 CorpCapital Annual Financial Statements reveals the significance of the accounting ploy used by the executives. If equity accounting had been used CorpCapital would have sustained a loss of earnings. Instead, the company showed earnings of R133 million in 2000. The adjustment to profits took place by way of bookkeeping entries made at year end by the executives.
Stride observes that the Inspectors have gone to great lengths to justify the revaluation of an investment “held available for sale” without ascertaining what permissions had been requested and granted. He concludes that the Inspectors must have negligently failed as experts to obtain and review both the SARB application and the approval granted. He concludes also that the Inspectors must have failed to apply their minds as to what documentation a buyer would require, its availability and the ability to sell an unlisted minority shareholding to an investor. They must also have failed to apply their minds to what could possibly have induced a buyer to pay hundreds of millions of Rands for something that could readily have been established from scratch for a fraction of that price. There were no super profits, proprietary rights, specialised software, contracted customers or any other asset that would justify the values arrived at. He comments that no cognisance appears to have been taken by the Inspectors of the almost sole financing and security provided by CorpCapital before considering that there was no “significant influence”, bearing in mind also that the remaining shareholders were mainly employees.

Stride points out that the Cytech structure was a complex overseas structure. He notes that it was the stated intention to list the whole of the e-commerce unit and not parts thereof.  Other companies in the structure such as CFI and Aqua Online were referred to in the Exchange Control application as being part of the long term strategy to list on the JSE. Thus, it was not possible to sell or list the structure unless all components were included. There is no evidence to suggest that such a plan ever took place or was seriously contemplated, even though it forms a central defence by CorpCapital to the Inspectors.
Stride comments that when considering the revaluation of Cytech, the following criteria should have been investigated by the Inspectors:

Why would a buyer be willing to pay goodwill of, say, R450 million for an entity that he could set up for less than 5% of that price? There is no reference to any offer having been received for the “valuation” price. There is also no comment regarding the reductions in valuation to R110 million or the actual sale price, stated to have been approximately R20 million;
What was it that would have given a prospective buyer long term assurance that the company would have continued to make the super profits the valuation purchase price would have required?
What reliance would a buyer have placed on a two key player business with limited employment contracts? The Exchange Control application recorded that the two key employees had signed three year service contracts. When the business was available for sale in 2000, 2001 and 2002 this security would have become valueless to a prospective buyer.

How reliable would the projections be if based on less than two years trading from start-up? In Stride's view they would have been almost irrelevant. There were no contractual long term agreements with customers. By far the most critical components of a DCF valuation are the assumptions. Bearing in mind that no audited financial statements were available, only part of the structure was being valued, future outsource costs were unknown, unsubstantiated adjustments had been made to the ‘trading results” and there was no independent market/competitor research, no sound basis existed upon which assumptions could be made. Stride notes that the Report does not confirm the valuation but states that no professional valuation had been undertaken. The Inspectors do however state that the KPMG review of managements “valuations” did not constitute, nor ever could in their opinion constitute, a valuation. As most buyers would require an after tax return, a valuation on a pretax basis is wholly inappropriate. This alone should have discounted the 2000 and 2001 valuations by 30% had it ever been permissible to include the revaluation surplus in annual undisclosed earnings;
Would the legislative framework continue?  Working out of a tax haven restricted the market so that no US or UK customers would be permitted;
The business was wholly reliant on the ability to use credit cards;
Who would want a 47.5% minority interest in an unlisted start up that had no protected intellectual property?

What acceptable earnings multiple or discounted cash flow rate was acceptable to a prospective buyer?  Proper cognizance must be taken of earnings yields of similar online listed entities, adjusted for Cytech’s short track record, being unlisted (normally a 40% discount) and the lack of control. 
Stride points out that being “held available for sale” must mean that all the criteria to both attract a buyer and conclude a sale should be readily available (being held as a current asset implies that such a sale could be completed promptly). The following factors are relevant to this discussion:-
No audited annual financial statements were available. There is no reference in the Report that the Inspectors found this to be objectionable. Without a credible track record no potential buyer would be interested in a quick sale;
There is no evidence that merchant bankers or agents had been appointed to find a buyer during 2000 and 2001;
There is no evidence that the remaining shareholders were aware that the shares were “held available for sale” nor any reference to pre-emptive rights even in the unsigned agreement.

With regard to the Report, Stride concludes that the Inspectors:-
failed in their duty to determine that a fraudulent scheme had in fact been perpetrated. He concludes that a fraud had been perpetrated on the investing public and that earnings were inflated to avoid disclosure of a substantial loss in CorpCapital;
failed to consider the profit performance or share price trends in order to determine whether or not the executives may have had a motive to fraudulently inflate earnings;
based their conclusions with regard to Cytech on the false premise that the investment was “held available for sale”. They failed to enquire what steps were taken from 1999 to sell the investment and failed to apply their minds to the Exchange Control requirements for a foreign investment;
incorrectly concluded that Cytech was a joint venture;
incorrectly concluded that the revaluation surpluses, (which in Stride's view were "ridiculous"), and knowing that proper valuations had not been performed, could be included in income;
failed to address the materiality of the revaluations and the impact on earnings, swap ratios for the merger, minority shareholders in CorpCapital Bank or outside shareholders in group companies; and
failed to investigate whether the methodology of using cash shells had been repeated.
The report of SAB&T

The report of SAB&T (Annexure B) identifies and analyses the scheme which was implemented by the executives. This report dovetails with the Stride Report and should be read  in conjunction with the Stride Report. The SAB&T report provides an overview and insight into the way in which the CorpCapital executives operated and places Cytech in the context of the entire saga.  The broad elements of the scheme identified by SAB&T include:
the offshore element, commencing in 1995 with Moss, which provided Liebesman and Liebmann with secret offshore funds which were used to purchase shares in a listed cash shell, Southgo, which became Corpgro. Southgo provided access to millions of cheap shares with a view to increasing their value mainly through influencing the price based on future earnings (ie generating large amounts of goodwill); 
repetition of the pattern of behaviour evidenced in the acquisition of Southgo in the acquisition of a further cash shell TPN, later to become CorpCapital. CorpCapital was a 60% subsidiary of Corpgro;
undisclosed shareholdings in these entities at a level which could influence share prices; 

the executives relied on a combination of non-disclosure and/or incomplete disclosure of their shareholding interests and trades in the company shares. Non-disclosure was a feature when it came to the materiality of transactions, such as Cytech where the bookkeeping entry accounted for 108% of CorpCapital’s profits in 2000;
access to cash, ie. an entity which had a very high net asset value and contained a large amount of cash, Fulcrum Bank, later to become CorpCapital bank. The bank provided the ‘real assets’ which would to an extent camouflage the fictitious assets created in CorpCapital;
a method of pumping up profits: Cytech, the start up internet gaming company, which through excessive valuations, provided the mechanism to inflate profits in CorpCapital in 2000. The method of accounting for the investment, mark-to-market, ultimately is nothing more than a bookkeeping entry, which had no impact on the earnings, cash flow, and true assets of CorpCapital. The impact of these bookkeeping entries was to increase profits of CorpCapital by R219 million over the period 1999 to August 2001, at which date the merger of Corpgro, CorpCapital and CorpCapital Bank took place. In 2000, the year which was used as the base for the merger, R144.5 million was taken into CorpCapital’s after tax profits from Cytech, a contribution of 108%. The write off of the Cytech investment during the years 2002 to 2004 is clear evidence that the most appropriate way of accounting for Cytech in the first instance should have been at cost, due to the uncertainty surrounding the investment;
disguising the gap between profits and cash flow. The merger of Corpgro, CorpCapital, and CorpCapital Bank took place in 2001. In this regard:- 

the impact of the Cytech valuation was to artificially overstate the value of CorpCapital by at least R221 million if the merger was based on net asset values and by a higher amount if the valuation was based on an earnings multiple; 

in contrast to the above, the assets and earnings of the bank did not seem to decrease significantly, if at all, since 31 August 2001.  This confirms that the Bank's shares were not fairly valued for swap ratio purposes at 31 August 2001; 

based on the above calculations the shareholders of CorpCapital Bank lost R320.8 million (being the issued share capital of 115.4 million shares x R2.78). The CorpCapital shareholders benefited by some R400 million due to the overvaluation of its underlying investments, such as Cytech. Therefore, the merger values were inaccurate by an amount of some R700 million; 

the executives benefited to the extent that their shareholding in CorpCapital was overvalued, and they held significant shares, undisclosed in Corpgro, which in turn held some 60% of CorpCapital. Thus, the big winners in the merger were the executives, who directly and indirectly controlled significant shares in both Corpgro and CorpCapital. The big losers were the minority shareholders of CorpCapital Bank and the investing public, who were acting on incorrect information.

Collett notes that the Report identifies that Liebesman and Liebmann breached exchange control regulations in 1995, and recommends that the matter should be referred back to SARB. These actions should have given the Inspectors pause before accepting the testimony of the executives. This is reinforced by the Inspectors' findings with respect to Liebesman's interactions with Old Mutual on an important issue, and that many of the directors had falsely claimed that their valuations of Cytech were supported by a valuation conducted by KPMG in 2001. It was proved (and accepted by the Inspectors) that this did not happen. Such occurrences would normally cause investigators to sharpen their tests. The opposite happened. The Inspectors cleared the executives and condemned Frangos. 
1. Comment and analysis by Collett on the Report and on the reports by the additional CorpCapital experts

Frangos used two experts extensively, Brian Abrahams, and Collett and Collett/SAB&T.  All investigations by these experts were mandated through  WWB.  In each investigation the experts were given a broad scope, the full context, and all available information.  No time frames for completion were set and the experts were encouraged to consult widely, including with third parties. The initial reports by these experts formed the basis of the request by WWB for a Companies Act investigation of CorpCapital in June 2003.

Collett completed his first report in June 2003. The second Collett report was completed in November 2003. The findings in this report were not referred to at all by the Inspectors despite them having been furnished to the Inspectors and provided by the Inspectors to CorpCapital.

Collett’s  third report was completed in February 2004. 

Collett completed a fourth report on the Report of the Inspectors in May 2007. 

A further report dealt with the issues covered by the Inspectors which were outside of the mandate of the Minister.
The evidence of certain experts used by CorpCapital, primarily to refute the possible adverse findings of the Inspectors against CorpCapital on Cytech, were not furnished to Frangos by the Inspectors. When compelled to release the Report, the Minister did so subject to a reservation about this failure. Subsequently, the Department of Trade and Industry provided these reports to Frangos at his request. The report of Collett on certain accounting issues relating to the Report and on reports of the CorpCapital experts is attached as Annexure D. Collett’s comments are summarised below. Matters in italics and inverted commas are extracts from Collett's report:-
The mystery of the Collett second report, November 2003
Collett is puzzled as to why his second report was apparently ignored by the Inspectors. He notes:-

“Most of Collett and Adam's findings, as set out in their 
Second Report (16 November 2003), were apparently not disputed 
(based on the contents of the Inspectors' report) despite their significant implication, not only for the valuation of Cytech, but also for corporate 
governance, disclosure and public interest.  In fact, it seems that the 
findings, content and conclusions of the 2nd report were in all material 
aspects ignored by the Inspectors in their report and findings, as if they 
never existed.  As far as I can determine from the Inspector's reports, CorpCapital never denied or rebutted the specific findings of the 2nd 
Collett and Adam Report. If it turns out that there is substance to this 
major observation it would constitute a major procedural flaw with 
obvious consequences to the findings” (our emphasis). 

This flaw in procedure is serious. It would mean that the Inspectors ignored material evidence. Collett goes on:-
“Collett and Adam's findings that the actual historical profits and 
future forecasts of Cytech appear to have been manipulated vis-à-vis 
other companies in the CorpCapital Group (or its associates) were 
ignored, despite the huge impact on some important assumptions relied 
upon by all the experts and organisations (auditors) who reviewed the 
Cytech valuation model.” 

“The 2nd report deals predominantly and in great detail with Collett 
and Adam's reasons as to why the investment was not "reliably 
measurable".  The Inspectors, however, concluded that, with the 
exception of Abrahams, the experts "firmly" held the view that the value 
of the investment was "reliably measurable" (Main report, chapter VII, 
Cytech, Section 3, page 68, par 81), which is obviously incorrect.  This 
supports the view that the 2nd Collett and Adam report was for some 
unknown reason ignored by the Inspectors.” 

“During a meeting with the Inspectors and Frangos's lawyers in November 2004, Collett and Adam were informed that the Inspectors had serious concerns over the findings in the 2nd report, and that the 
report was to be forwarded to CorpCapital for rebuttal.  It was 
understood at the time that CorpCapital requested an extension of the 
investigation (due to end in December 2003) until mid February 2004 in 
order to respond to the second Collett report.  Despite this it seems, 
however, that both parties (CorpCapital and the Inspectors) 
subsequently simply ignored the 2nd report.  It is possible that there may be a rational explanation for the above, but there is no obvious 
one.” 

The explanation by the executives was that Cytech was “held exclusively for sale in the short term”. This was a hyper-technical issue which deflected the Inspectors, and is not supported by the facts. Collett comments:-
“In their testimony before the Inspectors the CorpCapital executives 
were clear on this point.  The philosophy of Old CorpCapital was to hold 
investments exclusively with a view to "early" disposal thereof, and 
Netainment fell into this category up to the date of the merger (Page 
24, par 41, Section 3 of Chapter VII on Cytech).” 

The only testimony on this issue was provided by the executives, whose credibility and motives should have been closely interrogated by the Inspectors. The non-executives were silent on this matter, and there are no board records to support the assertions of the executives. The SARB would have been extremely unlikely to approve a short term speculative investment, a fact which has been verified by Charles Stride. Why the Inspectors did not determine this is a mystery. Other factors which cast doubt on the version of the executives have been highlighted by Stride and identified above. Collett also identifies these:-
“3.2.7  In examining management's intentions at the time when the 
investment was acquired, an analysis of the Letter of Intent and 
CorpCapital's application to SARB proves insightful (especially with 
regard to the consistency of evidence). The letter of intent refers to certain conditions which did not support 
an intention to dispose of the investment early: 

3.2.7.1…It envisaged contracts with the vendors (Sean and Tal), 

which would bind them for three years.

3.2.7.2…It provided for a discount on the market value of shares 

held (up to 50%) by any shareholder who wanted to sell 

its shares within the first three years of inception.

3.2.7.3 Although there could possibly be alternative views on par 
3.2.7.1  ….. it would hardly 


make sense for CorpCapital to include a penalty for 

themselves ….on an investment (their 50%) 

which they intended to dispose of in the "near future".  

“In their application to the SARB no mention was made of 
CorpCapital's short-term view in acquiring the investment.  Instead, 
CorpCapital reflected the intention of an investor with a medium to long-
term view.  The following supports the latter:

…CorpCapital was of the view that E-commerce was poised 

to dominate world-wide as a commercial transaction 


medium and stated:  "CorpCapital seeks to position itself 

strategically to be able to offer services to users of the 

medium" (par 2.4 of the SARB application dated 11 


November 1998).

…"It is a condition of the transaction that Harpaz and Rose are bound in favour of Global Admin Group …. The applicant recognised that Harpaz and Rose provide intellectual capital which is critical to the success of the venture and integral to the development of the whole of the applicant's E-commerce strategy."  (Par 3.5 of SARB Application on 11 November 1998).

…"Exhibit 5 annexed hereto is a projected cash flow statement for the Global Admin Group for the forthcoming five years …" (par 3.9 of SARB application on 11 November 1998).

…"CorpCapital's strategy is to acquire E-commerce business … with a view to developing those businesses synergistically in partnership with management” (par 5.2 of SARB application).

…"The proposed investment in the Global Admin Group is one integral part of CorpCapital's strategy" (par 5.3).

…"CorpCapital intends to initially hold its interest in the E-Commerce [industry] including a private equity fund.  When the investments have reached an acceptable degree of maturity it is intended that the investment will … be listed separately on the JSE.  This … will afford the various businesses within the Group a public profile which will enable them to achieve their optimum capacity."  (Par 5.5).

"… the applicant anticipates a 100% return on the new investment within three years and thereafter continuing benefits exceeding R5 million per annum” (par 6.1).

Collett then comments:-
“From the above it appears that CorpCapital had a medium-

to-long-term intention with the investment.  At no stage 

does CorpCapital present a scenario of an early disposal.  

This investment was part of CorpCapital's own long-term 

strategy, not an investment which was exclusively 


acquired with the view to hold it as a tradable asset for 

resale at a profit at the earliest convenient opportunity. 

This evidence is not consistent with management’s 


evidence.  If this interpretation is correct, it follows 

that the Cytech investment was incorrectly disclosed 

in CorpCapital's financial statements (estimated 


“market” value versus cost or equity accounting), 


resulting in a failure to meet the Companies Act 


and/or GAAP requirements of fair presentation.  The 

intentions as set out in the SARB-application are, in 

my opinion, not in accordance with any conclusion 
that the investment was acquired and held exclusively 

with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near 


future” (our emphasis).
“CorpCapital claimed they made extensive efforts to sell the Cytech 
business.  They found no buyers who were willing to pay their price.  
They made no claims that any buyer offered to pay them any price 
close to the "fair value" they claimed for inclusion in the F/S.  The only 
"initial" offer they allegedly received from Paddy Power ($10 million - 
$15 million) was substantially lower than the "fair value" ($40 million - 
$60 million) estimated by them.”

“As they claimed that the investment was acquired and held 
exclusively with the view to early disposal thereof, and that they 
attempted to sell it, effectively from May 2000 until June 2002, it is clear 
that they could not find a buyer at a price close to their estimated "fair 
value".”

“If there was no buyer at CorpCapital's estimated "fair value", such 
value was too high to be considered as the "fair value" of that asset.  A 
prudent and responsible seller, particularly a public company with 
disclosure commitments to its shareholders, would therefore drop his 
estimated "fair value" for inclusion in the financial statement to such a 
level where he had some assurance that he could sell the asset at the 
"fair value", without undue delay.”

“The conclusion is that the estimated value for the Cytech investment 
never qualified as "fair value" and that any such claim by CorpCapital 
was substantially incorrect.  If there was no buyer at the price, the price 
could not represent "fair value".  This reality substantially supports the 
view expressed by Collett & Adam in their 1st and 2nd reports”(our emphasis).
Non-disclosure
In relation to non-disclosure Collett comments as follows:-
“CorpCapital's inadequate disclosure of Cytech is vigorously 
defended.  Many of the arguments for non-disclosure are overly 
technical in nature.  These arguments and others which refers to the 
so-called "sophisticated readers' interpretations" of the F/S, are clearly 
not in line with the spirit of fair presentation.  The investing public are 
not required to be "sophisticated readers" with clairvoyant talents.  That 
is why the Companies Act and GAAP are framed the way they are to 
protect their interests.”

“The example of Strauss (Investec analyst) speaks for itself.  He 
confirms that he could not make his conclusions from information in the 
public domain.  He had to obtain further information from management 
which, though not totally accurate, played a significant part in his 
findings.  (The management of CorpCapital appears to have given 
Strauss information which was not in the public domain, and not 
available to shareholders.)  If the F/S disclosed insufficient information 
for an analyst like Strauss (from Investec), it cannot claim fair 
presentation.” 

It is surprising that the only external party (Strauss) consulted by the Inspectors confirms the opinions of Abrahams and Collett on fair presentation, yet the Inspectors make a contrary determination.
Comment and analysis by Abrahams on the Report and on the reports by the additional CorpCapital experts
The first investigation conducted by Abrahams is contained in the Abrahams report of June 2003. Abrahams provided further reports when he commented on the evidence of CorpCapital (Hamburger) and their experts (Coppin and Wilmot) in November 2003.

1.1 The evidence of certain other experts used by CorpCapital, primarily to refute the possible adverse findings of the Inspectors against CorpCapital on Cytech, were not furnished by the Inspectors to Frangos. The Minister publicly expressed a reservation about this and, subsequently, the Department of Trade and Industry provided these reports to Frangos at his request. Abrahams was then commissioned by WWB to comment on these reports and his analysis is contained in Annexure C. His conclusions are contained in the executive summary of that report, which is reproduced in full below as it gives a concise summary of the manner in which the Inspectors erred in drawing conclusions regarding the adequacy of the accounting treatment and disclosure in relation to Cytech:
"1.
In determining whether financial statements “fairly present” the state of affairs of the entities under consideration, it is necessary to consider whether the readers of the financial statements are provided with all the relevant information to enable them “to understand the impact of particular transactions or events on the enterprise’s financial position and financial performance. If financial information which is relevant to economic decisions is not disclosed the financial statements do not achieve “fair presentation.”

2.
AC 101 entitled “Presentation of Financial Information” governed financial statements issued on or after 1 July 1999 and provided guidance on overall considerations relating to “fair presentation”.  It indicated that compliance with specific Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice relative to the various topics covered by these Statements was not necessarily sufficient to achieve fair presentation. Additional information was to be provided where it was necessary “to understand the impact of particular transactions or events on the enterprise’s financial position and financial performance.

3.
Technical compliance with the Statements governing specific topics was not sufficient to achieve “fair presentation” where additional information was relevant to a proper appreciation of the financial affairs of the entity.

4.
The Inspectors have considered whether CorpCapital complied with the specific Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and Companies Act requirements relative to Netainment / Cytech and conclude that based on their findings they are not in a position to find that the financial statements during the various years did not “fairly present”.

5.
In relation to the 2000 and 2001 financial statements they indicate that certain disclosure requirements of the Companies Act were not complied with and that the investment in Netainment was incorrectly described and should have been described as a “joint venture”. 

5.1
Their overall conclusion on fair presentation in relation to 2000 and 2001 is however predicated on a finding that any additional information that was required to be disclosed and the incorrect description of the investment was not sufficiently material to have influenced the economic decision of a reader. Accordingly it would not have impacted on “fair presentation.”

5.2
It is my view that the incorrect description of the investment was material to an appreciation of the financial statements and that additional information was required to be disclosed in respect of Netainment / Cytech in respect of both the 2000 and 2001 financial years in order to achieve “fair presentation”.  The information disclosed was simply not sufficient to provide the informed reader of financial statements with appropriate information as to concentration of risk and the existence of a related party transaction.  Accordingly the informed reader was not provided with relevant information which would have impacted on an evaluation of the sustainability and quality of the income and cash flows of the group and accordingly on economic decisions. 

5.2.1
In particular in relation to the 2000 financial statements it was not possible for the reader to establish that income for the year was derived mainly from a revaluation surplus included in the income for that year which arose from the revaluation of a single unlisted investment which was a closely held related party.  The revaluation accounted for some 57% of reported income and disclosure of the information in this paragraph was clearly material to the fair presentation of the financial statements.  

5.2.2
Whether or not the estimated market value of the investment was considered to be reasonable, the above information should have been disclosed.

5.2.3
Similarly, even on the basis of the Inspectors findings that the market value of the investment could have been “reliably measured“ and that it was not necessary to disclose  the assumptions used to estimate the market value of the investments and on the assumption that the Inspectors had decided that the disclosure of  a single market value of the investment was useful, after consideration of the potential variability in the ranges of reasonable estimates of market value, the information set out in  paragraph [11.2.1] was, on its own, material and would have influenced the economic decision of an informed reader.

5.3
Accordingly “fair presentation” required disclosure of at least this information in relation to the Netainment investment in addition to other information presented.

6.
In this regard it is important to bear in mind that AC 101 paras 11 and 16 specifically indicate that there may be circumstances where it is necessary to provide information over and above that specified in other Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.  The paragraphs refer specifically to “additional disclosure when necessary” and “providing additional disclosures when the requirements in Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions or events on the enterprise’s financial position and financial performance.” 
7.
The Netainment investment was in my opinion clearly such a circumstance.  Accordingly even if it could be argued that the disclosures made did technically comply with identified provisions of AC 133 / other relevant Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (and as indicated in the body of my report I have serious misgivings in this regard),  this was not sufficient to ensure “fair presentation” where additional information was necessary to “enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions or events on the enterprise’s financial position and financial performance.”
8.
The issue of whether the investments could have been “reliably measured” was relevant to the question of the appropriateness of the accounting policy and the adequacy of the disclosures.  These matters should have been fully debated by the board and the appropriateness of both the accounting policy and the disclosures considered.

9.
In relation to 2002 the Inspectors conclude that a change in intention justified the accounting treatment.  

9.1
The Inspectors conclude that the investment was held “exclusively for the purposes of re-sale in the near future” and incorrectly not described as a “joint venture”. They do not indicate what consideration was given to whether the investment should appropriately have been regarded as an “available for sale asset” or a “trading asset” and do not analyse the provisions of AC 133 in relation to a change in intention relating to financial assets.

9.2
It does not appear, from the reports made available to me, that any of the CorpCapital experts dealt with this aspect and Professor Everingham confines his comments in relation to change in intention to a consideration of AC 110 and AC 119.

9.3
AC 133 expressly prohibits avoiding a charge to the income statement where there is a change in intention in relation to “trading” assets.

9.4
If we assume that a change in the intention in relation to the investment took place during the course of the 2002 year it appears that such change took place after it became apparent that there had been an impairment in the carrying value of the investment.

9.5
In the circumstances, the accounting treatment followed in 2002,  i.e. avoiding an impairment charge in the income statement by restating prior periods, was not permitted by AC 133 and accordingly the 2002 financial statements were not prepared in compliance with AC 133" (our emphasis). 
From this report it appears that the case for a breach of the Companies Act in respect of fair presentation is strong. The question remains as to whether the chosen accounting method was intended to mislead the investing public about the true state of affairs in CorpCapital. We submit that this is a matter which should be investigated further in the light of the all the circumstances highlighted by Stride and Collett. If, as Stride and Collett believe, executives held or were the beneficiaries of substantial undisclosed shareholdings in CorpCapital then there was clearly a motive for the executives to ensure that CorpCapital continued to be seen to grow and to be successful and clearly there is a basis for further investigation.
2. Analysis by Webber Wentzel Bowens of the Report and of the processes followed by the Inspectors
WWB has prepared submissions regarding the various respects in which the Inspectors did not comply with fundamental principles of natural justice, including procedural fairness, in their conduct of the Inquiry.  The submissions of WWB in this regard are attached as Annexure F. 
In broad summary, WWB's submissions are as follows: 

the Inspectors were required to carry out their section 258 investigation in a procedurally fair manner;

in the present instance and particularly in relation to the adverse findings made by the Inspectors in relation to Frangos' character and motive, the Inspectors ought to have applied a heightened level of procedural fairness;

the requisite standard of procedural fairness was not applied in that:-
2.1.1.1 the Inspectors failed to act in accordance with an undertaking which they had given to WWB representatives that each party and its experts would be given an opportunity to comment on material evidence provided by the other side ("the Undertaking").  

the Inspectors did not apply a sufficiently high level of procedural fairness in light of factors such as:-

the investigation was not a purely investigative inquiry but contained elements of a determinative (adjudicative) inquiry; 
the specific circumstances surrounding the investigation;  
section 258 of the Companies Act does not prescribe the procedure to be followed in an investigation;  and 
the fact that character and motive findings were made against Frangos;
the Inspectors acted outside of the ambit of section 258 of the Companies Act and the scope of their mandate given by the Minister, in making adverse character and motive findings against Frangos;

the Inspectors did not afford Frangos the requisite degree of procedural fairness in relation to the possible adverse findings against Frangos, ("the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings").  In particular:  
Frangos received no prior warning of or information on the nature of the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings;
the Inspectors only provided further particulars, which contained no substantive evidence, after they were requested to do so;  and 
Frangos had insufficient time within which to respond to the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings;

the Inspectors were not entitled to disclose the confidential submissions given to them by senior counsel made on behalf of Frangos to CorpCapital regarding the character findings ("the Puckrin Submissions"), thereby disclosing (certain of) the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings to CorpCapital which provided CorpCapital with insight into the conclusions of the Report in advance and directly resulted in adverse media coverage;  

Frangos ought to have been afforded an opportunity to comment on the CorpCapital Expert Reports; and

the manner in which the Inspectors carried out their investigation, and in particular their failure to observe procedural fairness and their differential treatment on the Frangos Possible and the final Adverse findings against Frangos ("the Frangos Final Adverse Findings") and the possible and final adverse findings against CorpCapital ("the CorpCapital Possible Adverse Findings" and "the CorpCapital Final Adverse Findings", respectively),supports the submission that the Inspectors are reasonably apprehended to have been biased against Frangos.
The reasoning of WWB in regard to these submissions is summarised next.
The Inspectors had to comply with the dictates of procedural fairness:-
The Companies Act does not specify the manner in which Inspectors appointed under section 258 must conduct such an investigation.  This places a significant duty on any Inspectors appointed to ensure that the procedure which they adopt for their investigation is appropriate to the situation.  Properly interpreted, the Companies Act does not, we submit, contemplate a situation where Inspectors are free to follow any procedure without accountability;  
We further submit that the conduct of the inquiry by the Inspectors  constitutes administrative action for purposes of section 33 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 and the Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, 2000 ("PAJA");  

Even in the event that the conduct of the Inspectors does not constitute administrative action, as a matter of law the Inspectors were required to follow the basic principles of natural justice in their conduct of the inquiry, a premise supported by counsel for the Minister in court papers;
Section 3 of PAJA sets out the requirements of procedural fairness for administrative action which affects any person (i.e. administrative action which has a particular impact).  A fair administrative procedure depends on the circumstances of each case; 
One should in any event have regard to the common law principles of natural justice in determining the manner in which an inquiry such as that carried out by the Inspectors in terms of section 258 of the Companies Act ought to be conducted.  

Legal principles in relation to the conduct of inquiries and application of the principles of natural justice:-
The Inspectors cannot rely on a defence that they had carte blanche to determine the procedure followed in relation to an investigation without reference to the fact that they are publicly accountable for such a procedure;  

In the leading English case where an inquiry under an equivalent provision to section 258 of the Companies Act was challenged, the Court accepted that "before [the Inspectors] condemn or criticise a man, they must give him a fair opportunity for correcting or contradicting what is said against him";  

This fundamental principle has been accepted in South African law.  For instance, in a case concerning the Truth and Reconciliation Commission ("the TRC").  The Appellate Division stated that "[the TRC's] findings in this regard and its report … may accuse or condemn persons in the position of the appellants … Clearly the whole process is potentially prejudicial to them and their rights of personality.  They must be treated fairly".  Fairness demanded that implicated persons should be:  (i) given reasonable and timeous notice of the relevant TRC hearing(s); and  (ii) informed of the substance of the allegations made against them, with sufficient detail to know what the case is about;  

Where, therefore, a report that follows an inquiry akin to section 258 of the Companies Act is damaging, accusatory or condemning or may ruin reputations or careers, any affected persons must have a fair opportunity to correct or contradict what is stated against them after being provided with the outline of the charge.  
Application of principles of natural justice to the Inquiry:
It is trite that inquiries such as the one carried out by the Inspectors under section 258 of the Companies Act must be conducted fairly;  

Section 258 of the Companies Act does not specify the procedure which should be followed by Inspectors in conducting an inquiry under this provision.  We submit that the Inspectors should have given a great deal of consideration and placed a large amount of emphasis on issues of procedural fairness and the important specific circumstances relating to public interest in this investigation, at the beginning of the conduct of their inquiry.  The fact that section 258 does not dictate the procedure to be followed means that the Inspectors are more accountable in relation to the manner in which they conduct an inquiry.  It was in the public interest that the Inquiry should have been carried out in a procedurally fair manner;  

Furthermore, the Inquiry conducted by the Inspectors was unique:  it was a high profile investigation which would have significant implications in relation to interpreting relevant provisions of the Companies Act, understanding what is expected of directors in relation to their fiduciary duties and for curbing corruption in the corporate context in South Africa.  The Inspectors ought to have ensured that they generally applied a high level of procedural fairness in reaching their findings;
Despite the fact that Frangos was initially the complainant in relation to the section 258 inquiry, the Inspectors made serious adverse character and motive findings against Frangos in the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings and their Report.  This is significant in that under the mandate given to the Inspectors by the Minister, it was the affairs of the CorpCapital Group which were intended to form the subject of the investigation;
What constituted fair procedure in relation to whether Frangos had sufficient opportunity to comment on issues relating to Cytech (which primarily were intended to form the subject of the investigation), does not equate to what is required by way of procedural fairness in relation to the making of character and motive findings against Frangos.  The threshold of fairness should be higher in the latter instance;  

The Inspectors' adverse findings are extremely prejudicial to Frangos and have impacted on his business reputation.  The Inspectors should have allowed Frangos a proper opportunity to respond to the character and motive allegations made against him by CorpCapital's directors.
Main respects in which the Inquiry was not procedurally fair
It is submitted that there are two main aspects in which the Inspectors failed to comply with the requirements of procedural fairness in relation to their investigation into the affairs of the CorpCapital Group:

The Inspectors gave the Undertaking (a specific undertaking in relation to the right of rebuttal for material evidence), but failed to comply with the Undertaking by refusing to afford Frangos an opportunity to review and comment on CorpCapital's experts' reports; and

The Inspectors did not afford Frangos the requisite level of procedural fairness given the gravity of the findings made against Frangos in the Report.  We submit that certain of these findings are outside of the ambit of the mandate of the Minister. That the Inspectors chose to enter such an area required additional caution. The Inspectors were required to investigate very complex corporate and accounting issues.  Frangos was entitled to expect, particularly in relation to the character and motive findings made by the Inspectors against him (which impacted on Frangos' interests so dramatically), that the Inspectors would afford him the full remit of procedural fairness.  The audi alteram partem rule should have been applied to its full extent by the Inspectors. 

2.2 Specific procedural fairness concerns emanating from the Inquiry 

The Inspectors did not comply with their mandate
The Inspectors failed to act in accordance with the terms of reference given by the Minister and therefore did not comply with the Minister's mandate.

Section 258 of the Companies Act only permits the Inspectors to investigate, and thereafter to report, on the affairs of a company and, in particular, in relation to that company's goodwill, profits or losses, contracts and assets, business interests and internal administration.  An investigation carried out under section 258(2) thus concerns only the affairs of the company, and not the affairs of any other person.

The Inspectors' conduct in making findings in relation to Frangos' character and motive thus fell outside of the ambit of section 258(2) of the Companies Act.  

Moreover, the Inspectors exceeded the terms of reference drafted by the Minister which empower the Inspectors to investigate the affairs of the CorpCapital Group and not any other entity.  As the Minister has himself expressed in his press statement of 16 November 2006, under cover of which the Report was released, "the matters dealt with in Chapters II, IV, V and sections 5, 10, 11 and 12 of Chapter VI [of the Report] fall in my opinion outside the ambit of the Inspectors' mandate".  

In addition, Frangos' motive in making his original submissions to the Minister was irrelevant for purposes of the Report.  There is no obligation under the Companies Act for him to have provided any evidence to support his contentions – it was sufficient simply to make allegations of misconduct.  It was the Minister, and not Frangos, who decided whether or not an investigation under the Companies Act should be conducted, what type of investigation should be carried out and the terms of reference for such investigation.

On this basis alone, the Inspectors' adverse findings in relation to Frangos' character and motive fall to be set aside.  The stance taken by the Inspectors in this regard, and the very fact that they elected to make character and motive findings against Frangos in the first place, serves to discourage other directors from making disclosures in respect of unlawful or irregular conduct of which they are aware or which they may suspect.  In the current corporate environment, this exerts a significant chilling effect on the employment of section 258 of the Companies Act to check corporate abuses.  
The Frangos Possible Adverse Findings

We submit that the Inspectors did not adhere to the principles of natural justice in making the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings.  

The Inspectors failed to make definite findings in relation to Cytech, even though this comprised the primary subject of the investigation.  On the other hand, the Inspectors made serious adverse character and motive findings against Frangos without affording him a proper and timeous opportunity to respond to, and contradict, these findings.

The Inspectors acted unfairly in relation to making adverse findings against Frangos, on the basis that:  (i) he received no prior warning of the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings;  (ii) there was no evidence of substance to support the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings, even after the further particulars had been provided;  and (iii) it should have been clear to the Inspectors from the outset that any findings against character demanded full procedural fairness, particularly in light of the fact that such findings fell outside the scope of the mandate given to the Inspectors.

Frangos should therefore have been afforded an opportunity to comment on the relevant allegations at the time that they were made against him by the executives, rather than in the context of the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings.

We submit that the further particulars provided by the Inspectors were insufficient to support the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings, there being no persuasive evidence to substantiate the allegations.  When making adverse findings against a party, it is submitted that such findings must firstly fall within the scope of the mandate for the investigation, and secondly, must be grounded in fact.  In the present circumstances, the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings were not based on fact but rather on the opinions and hearsay evidence of a group of executives who were themselves under investigation.

On the Inspectors' version that the character and motive findings made by them fall within the scope of the Minister's mandate, we submit that, given the nature and extremity of the allegations made in relation to Frangos' character and motive, fairness demands that it would have been appropriate for the Inspectors to afford Frangos the opportunity to cross-examine the persons making these allegations as well as to have access to the tape recordings of the directors when they made the allegations, requests which were denied by the Inspectors.  In light of the fact that Frangos was the complainant in relation to the inquiry, and not the subject of the inquiry, it was even more important for the Inspectors to afford him a high level of procedural fairness in relation to such allegations.  

Disclosure of the Puckrin Submissions to CorpCapital

The Puckrin Submissions, which it is common cause were disclosed by Myburgh to CorpCapital, included reference to certain of the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings.  The Frangos Possible Adverse Findings were confidential to Frangos and his advisers, and a disclosure of these findings by Myburgh goes against the undertaking given by Myburgh that possible adverse findings against one party would remain confidential to that party.  This further exacerbates the failure by the Inspectors to observe procedural fairness with respect to Frangos. The damage to Frangos was exacerbated by the fact that the information was made public (not by Frangos) in the media.
Failure to furnish Frangos with CorpCapital's experts' reports for his comments

Both under the Undertaking given by the Inspectors and in terms of the common law, Frangos should have been provided with copies of CorpCapital's expert reports and afforded an opportunity to allow his experts to comment on the reports.

With regard to the Undertaking, it is submitted that the CorpCapital Expert Reports amounted to "material evidence" for purposes of the section 258 investigation, and are referred to extensively in the report of the Inspectors.  They were prepared by well-known persons and the Inspectors had regard to their views in reaching the conclusions in the Report.  Moreover, Frangos' experts have now had an opportunity to consider the CorpCapital Expert Reports and are of the view that they are material to the issues before the Inspectors.  

It is also surprising that, in light of the fact that the Inspectors failed to draw definitive conclusions regarding Cytech (which should have constituted the primary focus of the investigation), the Inspectors did not provide Frangos with an opportunity to comment on CorpCapital's experts' reports with a view to reaching final conclusions in this regard.  We submit that the Inspectors were obliged, in terms of their mandate, to request that Frangos comment on CorpCapital's experts' reports to assist them in reaching more conclusive findings regarding Cytech.
In circumstances where the Inspectors gave the Undertaking but then failed to act in accordance with that undertaking, the Inspectors conducted the section 258 inquiry in a procedurally unfair manner.

We further submit that, even if the Inspectors had not provided the Undertaking, it is nevertheless a requirement of procedural fairness and/or a requirement that a full investigation must be conducted in the public interest, that Frangos should have been permitted the opportunity to comment on CorpCapital's experts' reports.

In addition, fairness demands that both parties to the Inquiry should be treated equally.  If CorpCapital was afforded an opportunity to respond to all of Frangos' expert evidence, then Frangos should equally have been afforded an opportunity to respond to all of CorpCapital's expert evidence.  

The Inspectors' letter of 29 July 2005

This letter was written in response to the intervention by the Minister of 24 March 2005 to attempt to find a resolution to the legal logjam. In his letter the Minister asked the Inspectors three pertinent questions relating to the expert reports.
The Inspectors claim that they would not have come to a different conclusion in their Report had they afforded Frangos an opportunity to comment on CorpCapital's experts' reports.  

In this regard, we submit that the Inspectors had no means of knowing what response Frangos may have made in relation to the CorpCapital Reports.  The Inspectors appear to have assumed that Frangos would not have been in a position to submit relevant evidence in relation to any allegations or arguments contained in CorpCapital's expert reports.  This presumption undermines the fairness of the process conducted by the Inspectors.

The Inspectors claim that they are "masters of their own procedure".  However, this does not obviate the necessity of acting fairly, particularly in circumstances where they make adverse character and motive findings against Frangos, the complainant in relation to the inquiry.  It is submitted above that the circumstances of the investigation and the fact that character and motive findings were made against Frangos, means that the Inspectors' discretion in relation to the process followed in the investigation was exceedingly limited. 

The reviewability of the Report on the basis of bias on the part of the Inspectors
The Report will be reviewable if the evidence shows that it is tainted by bias, either on the basis of actual bias, or because there existed on the facts a reasonable apprehension of bias.  
The test for actual bias has been stated to be whether the decision-maker approached the issues, in the words of our courts, "with a mind which was in fact prejudiced or not open to conviction".  Bias therefore exists where the decision-maker has "shut[] its mind to any submissions made or evidence tendered …. [P]rejudgement of the issues to be decided … constitutes bias".  
Even if actual bias cannot be proved, a decision will be reviewable if the decision-maker is reasonably apprehended to be biased.  This entails that the person apprehending the bias must be a reasonable person, and that the apprehension of bias must be reasonable in the circumstances.  The importance of a flexible test in the area of bias, is that it reinforces the proposition that the only guarantee of impartiality is "conspicuous impartiality … justice must be seen to be done".
The rule against bias has traditionally been regarded as an essential element of natural justice at common law.  It has been justified on the basis that it aims to enhance the quality of decisions taken by public authorities, and, more significantly, that impartiality augments the rule of law, and enhances the confidence of the public in administrative processes.  The rule against bias also ensures that all parties are treated with equal dignity and respect.  
The basis for the review of the Report on the ground of bias is PAJA, which provides that a court has the power to judicially review administrative action if the administrator "was biased or reasonably suspected of bias".  If PAJA does not apply (because the Inspectors' conduct is not "administrative action", which we submit it is), the Report is nevertheless reviewable on the grounds of bias on the basis of the principle of legality.
A factor that, we submit, may indicate bias on the part of a decision-maker is his or her failure to observe the natural justice requirements of procedural fairness.  Each of the departures from procedural fairness by the Inspectors, when viewed cumulatively and in light of the Inspectors' approach to the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings and the CorpCapital Possible Adverse Findings, creates in the minds of reasonable persons in the position of Frangos a reasonable apprehension of bias on the part of the Inspectors.  The Report's character findings against Frangos, which were irrelevant to the issue before the Inspectors, further supports the argument that the apprehension of bias against Frangos is reasonable.  The issue of how the Inspectors treated the Frangos Possible and Final Adverse Findings and the CorpCapital Possible and Final Adverse Findings is particularly revealing in this regard. [Frangos was furnished with the CorpCapital Possible Adverse Findings on request from the DTI. He also received the statements of certain CorpCapital directors in rebuttal of the CorpCapital Possible Adverse Findings. These documents, taken with comparable documents relating to Frangos enabled WWB to make a detailed study and comparison of the manner in which the Inspectors applied themselves to Frangos and CorpCapital. In order to provide a check and balance Collett was briefed to do the same.]
Of the 25 Frangos Possible Adverse Findings, the Inspectors only omitted some five findings; the other Frangos Possible Adverse Findings were all adopted, either in identical or substantially similar form.  Thus approximately 80% of the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings were essentially adopted by the Inspectors in the Report.  
Moreover, the overwhelming majority of the most damaging of the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings – those that implicated his character and motive – were crystallised as final findings in the Report, including: that Frangos: 
had breached his fiduciary duties; 
had acted badly in regard to the Anton Piller application; 
was not entitled to assert in public after he resigned that the executives acted improperly; 
breached his alleged undertaking not to publish his letter of resignation; 
should pay the costs of the investigation (which the Inspectors would have recommended if the Minister had the necessary powers); and 
had been described by Ellerine, Wixley; Liebmann and Grolman as, variously, a destructive presence on the board, not a man of his word, manipulative and deceitful, malicious, egotistical, domineering and motivated by ulterior motives. 
In contrast, of the 34 CorpCapital Possible Adverse Findings, approximately only 16 were adopted as final findings, and frequently in a diluted form.  It is in any event significant that none of the 34 CorpCapital Possible Adverse Findings are expressed in such a manner as to cast any serious aspersions on the personal integrity of any of the executive and non-executive directors of CorpCapital.  No single individual within the management of CorpCapital is singled out for condemnation, whether on the grounds of character and motive or otherwise.  We submit that the contrast with the approach taken by the Inspectors to the character and motive of Frangos is stark.

The differential treatment between Frangos and the other CorpCapital directors in regard to character and motive findings must also be viewed in the context of the extensive arguments made to the Inspectors in the form of the Puckrin Submissions, that such findings are outside of the mandate of the Inspectors.  A further relevant fact is that the Puckrin Submissions were disclosed to CorpCapital, we submit in violation of the undertaking made by the Inspectors.  In these circumstances, that the Inspectors nevertheless appear to go out of their way to make unnecessary and irrelevant character findings against Frangos is, in our submission, indicative of a reasonable suspicion of bias on their part. 
It is submitted that the apprehension of bias of the Inspectors is fortified by the Inspectors' reliance on hearsay evidence to reflect in the Report serious and highly defamatory character and motive findings against Frangos, despite his protestation at all material times to the probative force of such evidence.  
Moreover, the tone employed by the Inspectors in regard to the Frangos Possible and Final Adverse Findings differs markedly when compared with the tone employed by the Inspectors in the CorpCapital Possible and Final Adverse Findings.  On the other hand, the tone and terminology employed in the CorpCapital Possible and Final Adverse Findings is, we submit, in the main restrained and neutral and in any event generally refers in broad terms to "the board", "management", or "CorpCapital".  [Note - Collett also states that “the criticism of and accusations against Frangos are hostile and personal in nature. It reflects directly on his character and integrity. The tone of the Inspectors does not leave a feeling of balanced fairness to all parties”, clause 1.2.]
In addition, the jettisoning or qualification of certain of the CorpCapital Possible Adverse Findings by the Inspectors, and their acceptance of most of the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings despite comprehensive submissions by Frangos and his legal advisors, provides, we submit, further support for the proposition that the Inspectors are reasonably apprehended to have been biased against Frangos.  

One particularly instructive issue is how the Inspectors back-tracked in regard to their recommendation that CorpCapital contribute 40% of the costs of the investigation; the Inspectors had also recommended that if the Minister had the power to order Frangos to pay costs, the Inspectors would have recommended that Frangos should contribute to the costs of the investigation.  Whereas the Inspectors inexplicably perform a volte face with respect to their recommendation in regard to CorpCapital in the Report, they recommend that the Companies Act be amended to give the Minister a discretion to direct an applicant in a section 258 inquiry to pay or contribute to the costs of an investigation. If such legislation were to be enacted, with the availability of the CorpCapital “blueprint” it is almost certain that the price would be too high for directors to do their duty and report irregularities. 
There are a number of findings made by the Inspectors where serious inaccuracies emanating from the executives were found by the Inspectors to exist (such as in relation to the letter from CorpCapital to one of its major shareholders, Old Mutual, dated 25 January 2002), but where the Inspectors expressed their final findings in terms that do not condemn the conduct of the executives concerned, in this case Liebesman the CEO and Liebmann. We submit that the failure on the part of the Inspectors to condemn the executives in these contexts, when juxtaposed against the fact that the Inspectors have no similar compunction in condemning Frangos' alleged conduct, supports the proposition that Frangos' apprehension that the Inspectors are biased against him is reasonable.  

Frangos is particularly aggrieved that his detailed and extensive submissions in response to all the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings appear not to have been properly considered by the Inspectors.  

We submit that the manner in which the Inspectors approached the possible and final adverse findings against Frangos and CorpCapital in general; the terminology chosen by the Inspectors to express these findings; the inexplicable failure by the Inspectors to criticise the executives of CorpCapital where such criticism was warranted; and the rejection of nearly all of Frangos' detailed explanations and submissions in response to the Frangos Possible Adverse Findings, when viewed in conjunction with the other procedural fairness failings which we have documented here, lead to the inevitable conclusion that Frangos' apprehension that the Inspectors were biased against him was reasonable.  

We stress that we do not submit that the Inspectors were actually biased against Frangos, nor that they acted in bad faith with respect to him.  Our submission is that the facts and circumstances that we have outlined here give rise to a reasonable apprehension that the Inspectors were biased against Frangos, which apprehension is sufficient to vitiate the findings of the Inspectors against Frangos. 
In summary, we submit that the Report is vitiated on the grounds that the Inspectors did not comply with procedural fairness dictates and that Frangos has a reasonable suspicion that the Inspectors were biased against him.
3. Conclusions and recommendations
It is now almost five years since our client resigned as a director of CorpCapital. His internal investigations commenced some time before that. The question must arise, why has it taken over five years and millions of Rands of State and private expenditure to get the facts out? As a former director, Frangos is firmly of the view that the support given by the CorpCapital board to the executives, including the appointment of Liebmann and Lazarus to lead the CorpCapital defence, was a material contributing factor to the protracted nature of this saga. This support of the executives by the board made it difficult for Frangos to conduct an effective internal investigation whilst still a director. It resulted in the appointment of Payne, whose investigation our client considers to have been a whitewash. It meant that the executives were free to develop and implement a successful twin strategy with the Inspectors consisting of hyper-technical accounting defences on the one hand and an aggressive attack to discredit our client on the other. 

Frangos has invested considerable time and resources in bringing to the attention of the public and to the authorities the series of events at CorpCapital that led to his resignation as a director. In doing so he has at all times acted in the most responsible manner, first taking advice and confirming his views via specialists appointed with wide mandates, and legal counsel, and at great personal cost, before proceeding. On the other hand, the majority if not all of Corpcapital’s expense have been paid by the insurance company AIG under director’s indemnity. This illustrates the inherent difficulty when a board is able to muster together vast resources, human and financial, to oppose an individual who reports irregularities.
Notwithstanding the obstacles that he faced, our client has at all times been vigorous in his endeavours to see the facts revealed and effective action taken. He commenced with this task prior to the appointment of the Inspectors, and hoped that the Inspectors would take the matter forward via a fair investigation that produced a thorough and meaningful report. In this hope he has been sadly disappointed, and consequently been compelled to engage further experts both to highlight the massive inadequacies of the Report in terms of fair procedure and ultimate content, as well as to clear his name arising from the unjustified attacks on his character and motive made by the Inspectors. At vast additional personal expense, we submit that he has amply demonstrated, via the attached expert reports, the unfairness and inadequacy of the inspection and the final Report. His rights to take action against the Inspectors have been expressly reserved, and a potential review of the Report as well as proceedings for defamation against the Inspectors, are under consideration. 

Review proceedings and an action for defamation are actions that our client may take in his personal capacity to clear his reputation, but they do not address what has been our client's overriding concern since inception – that is to discharge his fiduciary duties and to reveal the truth of what happened at CorpCapital, in the hope and expectation that effective state action would ensue. This was the task of the Inspectors, in which it is submitted they failed dismally. 
The Inspectors failed in their primary task because:

they ignored key evidence and did not appreciate the significance of events leading up to the formation of the CorpCapital Group, namely the formation by key executives of offshore trusts which acquired significant shareholdings in the listed cash shells that became part of the CorpCapital Group, and which remained undisclosed to the investing public;

they failed to understand how these shareholdings could have influenced behaviour of the executives both in relation to conflicts of interest (for example in relation to the establishment of the merger ratios) and in the way that they treated non-executive directors and in the way they valued and accounted for Cytech in order to keep showing profits and growth;

they failed to pick up the inconsistencies with respect to the intention of CorpCapital vis a vis Cytech expressed to the SARB on the one hand and to the Inspectors on the other;

they failed, as a result of this inconsistency, (and despite their own findings that cast doubt on the credibility of certain CorpCapital witnesses) to treat evidence given to them by CorpCapital representatives with great circumspection;

they allowed themselves to be side-tracked from the main issues by an attack on Frangos' character and motives, without interrogating that evidence appropriately or giving Frangos a fair opportunity to rebut it;

the internal procedures they established were inadequate and not upheld; and

in the reasonable apprehension of Frangos they were biased against him and pre-disposed to disregard his evidence and that of his experts in favour of that submitted by CorpCapital and their experts.
The overall result of the Inspection is a clear message to all directors that the machinery of the Companies Act is ineffective and that the personal cost to a director of discharging his fiduciary duties is excessively high. It is much simpler just to resign and keep quiet

It is submitted that this situation is intolerable for the Minister and the DTI as custodians of the Companies Act
Fortunately, all is not lost. It is submitted that notwithstanding the absence of any recommendations by the Inspectors, the attached expert reports supply ample grounds for the Minister to take further action and to recommend further steps against either CorpCapital or its directors and representatives. Our client urges the Minister to take these steps in conjunction with the applicable state and regulatory bodies and organs. These steps include, most importantly:-

a recommendation to the SARB that they investigate the establishment of the offshore trusts and companies identified in the Report that were used to acquire undisclosed shareholdings in cash shells that became the key entities in the CorpCapital Group, and to take appropriate steps against the individuals concerned;
a recommendation to the SARB and the National Prosecuting Authority ("the NPA") that they investigate whether permission to establish Cytech was obtained fraudulently on the basis of misrepresentations concerning the intentions of CorpCapital with respect to Cytech, alternatively whether false evidence regarding this intention was given to the Inspectors;

a recommendation to adopt Stride's recommendation that Payne be reported to the PAAB for appropriate action;

a recommendation to the JSE that it investigate breaches of its listing requirements with respect to the non-disclosure of shareholdings by directors of CorpCapital; 
a recommendation to the South African Revenue Service that they request statements of assets and liabilities from all directors of Corpgro/CorpCapital from inception, and also determine whether or not proper disclosure was made in respect of offshore assets, including interests in offshore trusts; 
a recommendation to the NPA that it investigate whether the accounting treatment applied to Cytech constituted a fraud on the investing public in that the artificial and unjustified inflation of the value of Cytech, coupled with its accounting treatment, was intended to mislead the investing public about the true state of financial affairs at CorpCapital;.
the Companies Act should be amended to provide adequate safeguards for persons who come forward to report irregularities. Never again should a director seeking to discharge his fiduciary duties be subjected to the type of personal attack that Frangos has been subjected to.
The attached reports show that there are potential multiple breaches of inter alia GAAP, the Companies Act, JSE regulations, exchange control regulations, and the Income Tax Act. There is also the open question of whether fraud was committed. All regulatory and enforcement bodies should receive full evidence to determine whether to proceed against the individuals who were involved.
Our client remains at your disposal to discuss the contents of this submission and to address any queries that may arise from the attached expert reports.
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